2009

Gilbert Development Corporation v. Wardley Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code section 78A-4-103(j).

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting a directed verdict for the Wardley Defendants on Plaintiff Gilbert Development Corporation's fraud claim, thus depriving Gilbert Development of having the jury decide the issue based on the evidence presented at trial.

Standard of Review. A directed verdict may only be affirmed if "after 'examining all evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, there is no competent evidence that would support a verdict in the non-moving party's favor.'" Daines v. Vincent, 2008 UT 51, ¶20, 190 P.3d 1269 (quoting Merino v. Albertsons, Inc., 1999 UT 14, ¶3, 975 P.2d 467). A directed verdict cannot be sustained "if reasonable minds could disagree with the ground asserted for directing a verdict." Mahmood v. Ross, 1999 UT 104, ¶18, 990 P.2d 933.

Preservation. This issue was preserved below at RT. VI at 204-232.

2. If this Court affirms the trial court's directed verdict, the second issue on appeal is whether the trial court's award of attorney fees was reasonable. Specifically:

(a) whether the trial court erred in awarding fees for an unsuccessful motion for summary judgment, including an award of fees for a summary judgment motion that was subsequently withdrawn;

(b) whether the trial court erred in holding that the entire State of Utah constitutes the “locality” in determining whether the fees charged by the Wardley Defendants’ attorneys were consistent with the rate charged in the “locality” when the undisputed evidence before the trial court showed a stark contrast in St. George vs. Salt Lake City rates;

(b) whether the trial court erred in awarding attorney fees incurred for work that was duplicated or otherwise generated as a result of a transition of the case between law firms;

(c) whether the trial court erred in awarding fees for time spent in mock trial where there was no showing that the mock trial was necessary and reasonable as opposed to excessive preparation; and

(d) whether the trial court erred in refusing to reduce the claimed fees to account for an apportionment between compensable and non-compensable claims.

Standard of Review. “Calculation of reasonable attorney fees is in the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned in the absence of a showing of a clear abuse of discretion.” Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2d 985, 988-89 (Utah 1988) (citations omitted). Nevertheless, “an award of attorney fees must be supported by evidence in the record.” Id. at 989.

Preservation. This issue was preserved below at R. 2072-2091.

DETERMINATIVE REGULATIONS

Administrative regulations of central importance to this appeal are Utah Admin. Code R162-6.2.15, which is attached at Addendum 1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW.

This case arises out of a real estate transaction in which the real estate agents involved, all of whom were affiliated with the real estate brokerage Wardley Better Homes & Gardens, concealed material information from Appellant Gilbert Development Corporation (“GDC”) in order to convince GDC to provide seller financing to the buyer of the property that Wardley was listing for GDC. The buyer soon defaulted on his note to GDC, which caused GDC considerable damage, all of which could have been avoided had the agents fully informed GDC to enable it to make an informed decision on seller financing the buyer’s purchase of its property. GDC sued Wardley and the agents (collectively the “Wardley Defendants”) for fraud, among other claims.

After a seven day jury trial, the Wardley Defendants moved for and obtained a directed verdict on the fraud claims. The remaining claims went to the jury which returned a special verdict for the Wardley Defendants. The trial court thereafter entered judgment for the Wardley Defendants and awarded them nearly \$400,000 in attorney fees. GDC has timely appealed.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

A. Zion View Estates

Gilbert Development Corporation (“GDC”) is in the business of performing general contracting activities such as asphalt paving, grading, earth work, and installing underground utilities. [RT. II at 88:15-25.] GDC’s president and majority owner is Steve Gilbert. [RT. II at 88:15-21.] In the early 1990s, GDC purchased approximately 75 acres of undeveloped property in LaVerkin, Utah known as Zion View Estates (“ZVE”). [RT. II at 88:15-21; 91-92.] Initially, GDC planned on developing ZVE itself. [RT. II at 103; Trial Ex. 3.] To that end, GDC investigated manufactured homes as a possible product for ZVE and ultimately entered into a business relationship with Dave Wright (the sole proprietor of a company called Capital Housing) wherein GDC would provide lots at ZVE and Capital Housing would market and sell manufactured homes to potential purchasers. [RT. II at 96-101; Trial Exs. 1 & 2.]

Doing business with Wright was a decision GDC would soon regret. [RT. II at 104-107; III at 49-50.] Wright installed homes at ZVE that were not approved, and, in fact, were expressly rejected by GDC. [RT. II at 104.] There were also numerous structural problems with the homes Wright installed at ZVE, including the inability to open doors, sagging floors, cracked ceilings, no landscaping, no water heaters, exposed wires, lack of certificates of occupancy, improper installation of footings, and improperly

¹ Because this is an appeal from a directed verdict, the evidence at trial is recited in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. See Daines v. Vincent, 2008 UT 51, ¶20, 190 P.3d 1269.

installed sewer lines (causing sewage to be discharged beneath the home). [RT. II at 105-107.] These numerous problems ultimately led Gilbert to the conclusion that Wright was dishonest, untrustworthy and someone with whom he no longer desired to do business. Moreover, after terminating the relationship with Wright, GDC decided to sell ZVE rather than try to develop it. [RT. III at 49-50, 112-114].

B. Wardley

In July 1999, GDC entered into a listing agreement with Wardley Better Homes & Gardens (“Wardley”) to list and sell ZVE and Wardley agents Karen Fuller and Terry LoCicero became the seller’s agents for the sale. [RT. II at 114; Trial Ex. 8.] Wardley agents Chad Riddle and Lloyd Melling ultimately became the buyer’s agents for this transaction. [RT. IV at 147-148.] Thus, the agents on both sides of the ZVE transaction were all under the Wardley roof. [Trial Ex. 11; RT. III at 216, 220, 231; Trial Ex. 38.] Don Grymes was the broker for Wardley’s St. George office and was responsible for the conduct of all of these agents. He was also a limited agent for GDC [RT. II at 119; III at 214-216.]

When GDC listed ZVE, Gilbert suspected that Wright may still be interested in the property. [RT. III at 56.] Gilbert told Fuller and LoCicero that he did not trust or like Wright and that he “didn’t want to have anything to do with [him].” [RT. IV at 142-143, 176-177.] Gilbert also made it clear that GDC would not consider or provide seller financing if Wright was involved in any way on the other side of the transaction. [RT. II at 135-136; III at 52-55; IV at 146, 176-177.]

C. The Offer and Negotiations

Shortly after listing ZVE, Wardley agents Riddle and Melling presented Fuller with an offer from an entity known as Mobile Mansions. [RT. IV at 147-148.] Fuller conveyed the offer to GDC, which was rejected as Gilbert wanted to deal with an individual rather than a corporation. [RT. IV at 147-148.] Shortly thereafter, in August 1999, Riddle and Melling conveyed a \$1.2 million cash offer from Henry Butterfield. [Trial Ex. 11; RT. II at 121; 130-133.] GDC and Butterfield ultimately settled on a \$1.6 million cash purchase price with a \$100,000 non-refundable deposit. [Trial Ex. 11; RT. II at 140-141.] The Wardley agents conducted all negotiations and Gilbert never met or spoke with Butterfield. [RT. II at 140-141.] As it would turn out, the Wardley agents had not met Butterfield either; rather, it was Butterfield's long time friend, Dave Wright, who worked with Riddle and Melling to put the deal together. [RT. IV at 5, 9-16; IV 228-239, 244; V at 24-25.]

In reality, it was Wright's idea that Butterfield should purchase and develop ZVE. [RT. IV at 218-219.] Butterfield had no knowledge of the property. [RT. V at 22-23.] In fact, prior to closing the sale Butterfield never even visited the property. [RT. V at 20.] Wright initially called Wardley and spoke with Riddle about the purchase of ZVE and Riddle and Melling dealt almost exclusively with Wright reviewing agreements, discussing terms, and seeking his instruction. [RT. IV at 5-12, 28-33; IV at 69-71.] At times, the Wardly agents even conducted these meetings at Wright's office at Capital Housing. [RT. IV at 12-13.]

Importantly, Riddle and Melling knew Gilbert's opinion of Wright and were adamant that no word of Wright's involvement could get back to Gilbert. [RT. IV at 228-235.] Indeed, Wright testified Riddle and Melling told him:

That if Steve Gilbert had word that Dave Wright was involved in this deal, this deal wouldn't happen, period, and we were looking at losing \$100,000 [in commissions]-- losing a project. So I just bit my tongue, and the papers would go down to [Butterfield], and we would go over them anyway.

[RT. IV at 232:15-19, 22.] Indeed, Gilbert's previous experience with Wright had taught him "that if [Wright] did get involved, that the odds of [GDC] ending up in bankruptcy or foreclosure was almost absolute." [RT. II at 161:23-25, 162:1-3.]

Butterfield ultimately failed to meet the closing deadline for the purchase of ZVE and, in November 1999, GDC requested a release of the earnest money deposit. [Trial Ex. 25; RT. II at 141-143.] In response, an attorney named Bruce Jenkins sent a letter to Melling on behalf of Mobile Mansions, Inc. [Trial Ex. 26.] Butterfield owned Mobile Mansions and pursuant to a "Dealer Management Agreement" between Mobile Mansions and Wright, Wright was responsible for all day-to-day operations of Mobile Mansions and received \$30,000 per month as compensation. [Trial Ex. 19.]

In the letter, Jenkins claimed that Mobile Mansions—not GDC—was entitled to the \$100,000 deposit, and demanded mandatory arbitration pursuant to the purchase agreement. [Trial Ex. 26.] Therefore, an arbitration to take place at Wardley's offices was scheduled. [RT. II at 144-146; Trial Ex. 28.] GDC had never heard of Mobile Mansions, as that entity was not referenced in the purchase agreement. [RT. II at 121, 192; Trial Ex. 11.] Nevertheless, in Grymes' notice of arbitration to GDC and

accompanying letter, Grymes did not mention Mobile Mansions. [Trial Ex. 28.]

Unbeknownst to GDC, however, Wright had personally delivered the \$100,000 earnest money deposit to Wardley in the form of two Mobile Mansion checks for \$10,000 and \$90,000 respectively, written to Wardley. [RT. IV at 233; Trial Exs. 14 & 15.]

The arbitration took place on December 13, 1999. [RT. II at 146.] The Wardley agents (Fuller, LoCicero, Riddle, and Melling) and their broker (Grymes) all attended. [RT. II at 147-149.] Gilbert attended for GDC but Butterfield was not present. [RT. II at 147-150.] Instead, Gilbert was told that Butterfield was represented by attorney Jenkins. [RT. II at 147-150.] It soon became clear that, rather than determine entitlement to the deposit, the primary purpose of the arbitration was to salvage the ZVE sale. [RT. II at 150.] Since GDC was not looking for a “gift” in the form of the deposit, it was willing to entertain putting the deal back together. [RT. II at 150:11-24.]

Butterfield’s absence concerned Gilbert, however, as it was unclear who was involved on the other side of the transaction. [RT. II at 150:25, 151:1-5.] Gilbert expressed this concern to Grymes who reassured Gilbert that Butterfield was the only one involved on the buyer’s side. [RT. II at 150:25, 151:1-5.] Grymes did not mention Mobile Mansions, despite his knowledge that Jenkins sent the arbitration demand on behalf of Mobile Mansions and despite the fact that Mobile Mansions, through Wright, deposited the earnest money. [Trial Exs. 14, 15, 26 & 28.]

When Grymes suggested seller financing as a way to salvage the sale, Gilbert repeated that seller financing was not an option if Wright was involved with the

transaction in any way, including involvement with the purchaser. [RT. II at 151-154, 159, 162.] Simply put, if GDC had known that Wright was involved, GDC would not have provided seller financing because it knew that Wright's involvement would lead to inevitable foreclosure. [RT. II at 161:23-25, 162:1-3.]

From conversations with Melling and with Wright himself, Grymes knew that Wright had played a significant role in the transaction. [RT. IV at 74-75; 222-224.] Despite that knowledge, Grymes reassured Gilbert that he had no knowledge of anyone being involved other than Butterfield. [RT. II at 152:1-5.] Indeed, despite Wright's deep involvement in the transaction, during the course of the arbitration, negotiations, and dealings with the Wardley agents, not one of the agents or their broker mentioned any of the facts that they knew would be material to Gilbert – that Wright had indeed been a part of the transaction. [RT. II at 160-164.]

Given Grymes' assurance and the Wardley agents' silence, GDC agreed to restructure the agreement with Butterfield, which resulted in a second purchase agreement. [Trial Ex. 36; RT. II at 155-56.] Under the terms of that agreement, the purchase price for ZVE was \$1.6 million; GDC was to receive the \$100,000 deposit being held by Wardley and an additional \$400,000 cash at closing; and GDC agreed to seller finance the remaining \$1.1 million. [Trial Ex. 36.] If Gilbert had known what the Wardley Defendants knew and failed to disclose, GDC never would have seller financed Butterfield's purchase of the property. [RT. III at 22-23.]

Indeed, before the sale closed, when Gilbert heard a mere rumor that Wright was selling lots on ZVE and that there was a possibility that Wright was “weaseling in on this deal” he immediately called Fuller and LoCicero and reiterated that if Wright was involved, the deal was off. [RT. II at 199.] Both advised Gilbert that they would check on whether Wright was involved and to see if there was any truth to the rumor. [RT. II at 199-200.] Fuller approached Riddle and Melling about the issue. [RT. IV at 154-155.] They did not deny Wright’s involvement but, instead, told her that she could not prove it. [RT. IV at 154-155.] Fuller then went to Grymes, who echoed Melling and Riddle, stating that it would be in her best interest not to pursue the issue of Wright’s involvement. [RT. IV at 157.]

Having not heard back from Fuller, GDC closed the ZVE sale on January 13, 2000. [Trial Ex. 44.] In exchange for a trust deed note from Butterfield which was secured by a trust deed recorded against lots in ZVE, GDC conveyed its interest in ZVE to Butterfield. [Trial Exs. 41, 42 & 107; RT. II at 177-178.] Wardley received a \$96,000 commission (paid by GDC from the sale proceeds paid at closing) – the largest commission that Wardley’s St. George office had received during Grymes’ tenure as branch broker. [Trial Ex. 44; RT. II at 174, 212:24, 213:1-4.]

D. Butterfield’s Default, GDC’s Attempted Foreclosure, and Wright’s Surfacing.

Southern Utah Title Company serviced the note as escrow agent. [RT. II at 179-181.] Butterfield was to send payments to Southern Utah Title, which would then issue a check to GDC representing those payments. [RT. II at 179-181.] As a result, GDC had

no knowledge that it was actually Mobile Mansions, Wright, and Capital Housing that sent payments to Southern Utah Title. [RT. II at 179-181, 195.]

GDC received only four quarterly interest payments on the note through checks issued by Southern Utah Title. [RT. II at 178-181.] On March 19, 2001, GDC sent written notice of default to Butterfield. [Trial Ex. 60; RT. II at 182.] Shortly before sending the notice, Gilbert received a message that Wright had called in reference to the transaction. [RT. II at 184.] Still in the dark with respect to Wright's involvement, Gilbert stated in his letter to Butterfield that Wright claimed to be negotiating on Butterfield's behalf but that Wright had "no legal or financial involvement with the issues discussed between us." [RT. II at 183; Trial Ex. 60.] Butterfield failed to cure his default and GDC started foreclosure proceedings. [RT. II at 185-190; Trial Exs. 61 & 62.]

GDC's efforts to foreclose on the ZVE property came to a grinding and unexpected halt when GDC was sued by a California bankruptcy trustee for fraudulent transfer. [RT. II at 190-191; Trial Ex. 70.] Mobile Mansions had filed a Chapter 7 bankruptcy case in California and the trustee asserted that Mobile Mansions made fraudulent transfers by paying GDC for the purchase of Butterfield's lots at ZVE. [Trial Ex. 70.] The trustee sought nearly one million dollars and the return of the ZVE lots. [Trial Ex. 70; RT. II at 194.] This was the first time that Gilbert had heard of Mobile Mansions and it was at this point that Gilbert finally realized that Wright was involved in the transaction. [RT. II at 192, 197.]

GDC was forced to retain counsel in California and defended the fraudulent transfer case for approximately two years. [RT. III at 4-6.] After spending nearly \$600,000 in legal fees, GDC obtained a dismissal of that case. [RT. III at 5-6.] Nevertheless, had the Wardley agents or Grymes informed Gilbert of Wright's involvement from the outset he never would have entered into the transaction with Butterfield. [RT. III at 22-25.] Indeed, Gilbert's fears, expressed at the December 13 arbitration, proved to be prophetic. [RT. III at 22-25.]

E. The Litigation

On April 10, 2003, GDC filed suit against, inter alia, Wardley and its agents LoCicero, Melling, and Riddle, and their broker Grymes (collectively referred to as the "Wardley Defendants"). GDC asserted claims for, inter alia, breach of contract and fraud. [R. 1-63.] After a seven-day jury trial, the Wardley Defendants moved for a directed verdict on all remaining claims [RT. VI at 204-232.] The trial court granted the motion with respect to the fraud claims, reasoning:

To cut to the chase, I do not find sufficient evidence of intent to defraud. The nearest I find to that under the requirement of clear and convincing is the conversation between Mr. Grymes and Ms. [LoCicero], and then the knowledge acquired by Mr. Melling and Mr. Riddle.

With respect to Mr. Grymes and Ms. [LoCicero], I don't find that a reasonable juror could conclude that the failure to disclose a hunch or intuition or suspicion, which admittedly was without particular evidence, would equal an intent to defraud by either Mr. Grymes or Ms. Fuller sufficient to meet the clear and convincing evidence standard.

With respect to Mr. Melling and Mr. Riddle, I find the duty to disclose -- their duty to disclose to the plaintiff not sufficiently clear that a reasonable juror could conclude that failure to disclose constituted clear and convincing evidence of an

intent to defraud. I just don't think a reasonable juror would find that, and so the motion is granted as to fraud and conspiracy to commit fraud.

With respect to punitive damages, this also would require clear and convincing proof of willful and malicious conduct or intentionally fraudulent conduct, or knowingly -- knowing and reckless indifference to the rights of plaintiff, and here, too, I don't find that the evidence would be sufficient for a reasonable juror to determine that the clear and convincing evidence standard had been met. Really, it's primarily the same things as with respect to fraud, but I don't find that, and so it's -- the motion is granted with respect to punitive damages.

[RT. VI at 228:18-25, 229:1-19.] The court denied the motion on the breach of contract claim. [RT. VI at 229-232.] That claim for breach of contract went to the jury, which returned a special verdict against GDC on that claim, concluding that there was no contract between GDC and the Wardley Defendants which imposed a condition that Wright not be involved. [R. 1890.] Judgment was then entered in favor of the Wardley Defendants. [R. 1894-1895.]

The Wardley Defendants then filed a motion seeking \$399,536.00 in attorney fees and \$82,942.80 in costs. [R. 1927, 1827.] GDC opposed the motion. [R. 2062, 2072.] After receiving the parties' memoranda and affidavits and hearing oral argument on the issue, the trial court awarded Wardley \$397,911.00 in attorney fees and \$12,912.809 in costs. [R. 2152-2164.]

GDC now appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. An appellate court may only affirm a directed verdict if "after 'examining all evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, there is no competent evidence that would support a verdict in the non-moving party's favor.'" Daines v.

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