2009

# Gilbert Development Corporation v. Wardley Corporation, Don Grymes, Terry Locicero, Lloyd Melling, and Chad Riddle : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **Summary of the Argument**

This court can affirm the dismissal of Gilbert's fraudulent nondisclosure claim on six separate grounds. First, the jury considered and rejected the factual predicate to all of Gilbert's claims, including fraudulent nondisclosure, when the jury found that Gilbert did not impose a condition that Wright could not be involved in a seller-financed transaction.

Second, because Gilbert's fraudulent nondisclosure claim is subsumed by his breach of fiduciary duty claim, when the jury rejected the breach of fiduciary duty claim it necessarily rejected the fraudulent nondisclosure claim. The fraudulent nondisclosure claim required clear and convincing evidence that Wardley (i) had an intent to defraud, (ii) had a legal duty to disclose material information, (iii) knew of that information, and (iv) failed to disclose that information. (AOB at 17.) The breach of fiduciary duty claim required a preponderance of the evidence that Wardley (i) had a duty to disclose material information, and (ii) had knowledge of that information, and (iii) failed to disclose that information. Hermansen v. Tasulis, 2002 UT 52, ¶¶ 18-22, 48 P.3d 235. Because here the duties and undisclosed information are identical, the jury verdict would have been the same had the trial court not entered partial directed verdict. Any error was harmless.

Third, the test for whether information is material under Utah law is whether a reasonable person would consider the information material. Here, the only information that arguably qualifies as material would be if Wright had been the "real" buyer or obligor, a theory Gilbert advanced during opening statements but abandoned during trial. It is now undisputed that Wright was not the buyer or obligor, and therefore, there was no material information concerning Wright's involvement to disclose.

Fourth, in the opening brief Gilbert impermissibly combines (i) the duties of certain Wardley defendants with the information known by other Wardley defendants, and (ii) information related to two different transactions, even though only one seller-financed transaction is at issue here. Only one Wardley defendant—LoCicero—believed Gilbert considered any “involvement” by Wright to be material, but LoCicero knew nothing about Wright. The other Wardley defendants—Grymes, Melling, and Riddle—arguably knew Wright had a relationship with Butterfield during the first transaction, but they not only had no duty to disclose that information, but also, quite reasonably, did not consider that relationship to constitute Wright’s being “involved” in the seller-financed transaction. Moreover, evidence concerning the first, cash deal is irrelevant because Gilbert conceded that he would have sold the property to Wright himself in a cash deal.

Fifth, partial directed verdict was appropriate because Gilbert suffered no damages. Gilbert agreed to seller finance the sale of the property to Butterfield for \$1.6 million. Before Butterfield declared bankruptcy, Butterfield paid Gilbert \$638,608.05. Gilbert foreclosed on the property and subsequently sold it to another buyer for \$1,644,608.68. Thus, Gilbert profited by at least \$638,608.05. And even if Gilbert spent “nearly \$600,000 in legal fees” in bankruptcy proceedings defending what he describes as “frivolous” claims, Gilbert still profited from any nondisclosure. (AOB at 12.)

Finally, Gilbert could not recover damages on his fraudulent nondisclosure claim because his incurring fees in defending against what he described as “frivolous” claims in a subsequent bankruptcy proceeding was not a reasonably foreseeable result of Wardley’s failing to disclose anything concerning Wright. Thus, Gilbert’s claimed consequential damages are not recoverable, and Gilbert could not establish proximate cause.

With the second issue, Gilbert argues that the trial court abused its discretion in the amount of attorney fees it awarded Wardley as prevailing party. The court should decline to address these arguments because Gilbert failed to marshal any evidence supporting the trial court's reasonableness findings. If the court chooses to address the arguments, it should reject them, especially to the extent they are pure legal challenges.

First, Gilbert argues that fees spent on temporarily unsuccessful arguments in a motion for summary judgment are per se unreasonable, even where, as here, the non-moving party later agrees to dismiss claims for the reasons articulated in the summary judgment papers. This court should not adopt the suggested per se rule.

Second, Gilbert argues that the contractual attorney fees provision contemplates St. George rates for attorney fees. Gilbert fails to mention that he took the opposite position when his Salt Lake City counsel's attorney fees were in play. This court should reject Gilbert's new position, which would prohibit St. George trial judges from finding it reasonable for St. George clients to hire Salt Lake City counsel with an expertise. If Salt Lake City rates are per se unreasonable, then St. George residents must forfeit the ability to hire counsel with the expertise their case requires or to recover their attorney fees.

Third, Gilbert argues that attorney fees incurred in transitioning counsel are per se unreasonable. In making this argument, Gilbert fails to identify which time entries he considers objectionable and, more important, fails to marshal any evidence in support of the court's reasonableness finding. Wardley provided evidence that its counsel discounted fees for transitioning counsel, which is sufficient support for the trial court's finding.

Fourth, Gilbert argues that attorney fees incurred in a single mock trial to prepare to defend against \$6 million in claims are per se unreasonable. Gilbert does not cite a single Utah case, or marshal any evidence, in advancing this argument. Moreover, Gilbert provides no support for his assertion that Wardley incurred \$45,669 in fees associated with the mock trial, an assertion the trial court expressly rejected after reviewing hundreds of time entries. In fact, most of the fees Wardley incurred were for things such as preparing exhibits and developing strategies that were also used at trial.

Finally, Gilbert argues that Wardley failed to apportion attorney fees incurred in defending tort claims, which Gilbert asserts are not recoverable under the contract. In the trial court, Gilbert asserted that he was entitled to all attorney fees under the same contract provision. (R. 1941.) And on appeal, Gilbert asserts that if this court reverses the fraudulent nondisclosure claim (a tort claim), then Wardley will no longer be the prevailing party for purposes of the attorney fees provision, a position that assumes that provision encompasses tort claims. (AOB at 36.) Gilbert cannot interpret the provision differently simply because he was not the prevailing party. Regardless, Wardley provided evidence that defense of the different claims is inseparable, something Gilbert's prior counsel acknowledged during trial.

For all of these reasons, this court should (i) affirm the trial court's dismissal of the fraudulent nondisclosure claim; (ii) affirm the trial court's finding that the amount of Wardley's attorney fees was reasonable; (iii) award Wardley its attorney fees on appeal as the prevailing party; and (iv) remand to permit the trial court to supplement the judgment against Gilbert with Wardley's reasonable attorney fees on appeal.

## Argument

The opening brief is remarkable for what it omits. Gilbert first contends that the trial court erred in entering partial directed verdict on his fraudulent nondisclosure claim. Gilbert does not mention that on the special verdict form the jury found that Gilbert did not impose a condition on the seller-financed transaction that Wright not be “involved,” the very condition Gilbert cites as supporting his fraudulent nondisclosure claim. Gilbert also does not disclose that the jury considered and rejected a breach of fiduciary duty claim involving the same duties and same factual allegations as the fraudulent nondisclosure claim. And Gilbert omits that the test for whether Wright’s “involvement” was material is an objective, not a subjective, test. Under the objective test, Wright’s “involvement” meant Wright was the buyer or obligor under the finance agreement, and, by the end of trial, Gilbert had conceded that Wright was neither. As demonstrated below, these considerations, and others, provide this court a number of reasons to affirm the trial court’s dismissal of Gilbert’s fraudulent nondisclosure claim.

Gilbert next contends that the amount of attorney fees awarded by the trial court was unreasonable. Gilbert omits, and therefore fails to marshal, any evidence in support of the trial court’s reasonableness finding. Gilbert also does not mention that he advances positions inconsistent with his previous positions. In the trial court, Gilbert asserted that all of his counsel’s fees were recoverable at Salt Lake City rates. The provision cannot mean something different simply because Gilbert did not prevail. As demonstrated below, the court should affirm the trial court’s award of attorney fees and award Wardley its attorney fees on appeal as the prevailing party.



**I. This Court Should Affirm the Trial Court’s Dismissal of Gilbert’s Fraudulent Nondisclosure Claim on a Number of Grounds**

This court can affirm the trial court’s dismissal of Gilbert’s fraudulent nondisclosure claim on a number of different grounds, which are set forth below.

**A. Any Error Concerning the Partial Directed Verdict Was Harmless Because the Same Elements and Facts Were Considered by the Jury When It Rejected the Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim**

Even though the trial court entered partial directed verdict on the fraudulent nondisclosure claim, the jury nonetheless rejected an element of that claim when it found that Gilbert did not impose a condition on the seller-financed transaction that Wright could not be “involved.” (Addendum B.) That alleged condition is the factual predicate to all of Gilbert’s claims, including fraudulent nondisclosure. The elements of fraudulent nondisclosure include: “(1) that the nondisclosed information is material, (2) that the nondisclosed information is known to the party failing to disclose, and (3) that there is a legal duty to communicate.” Yazd v. Woodside Homes Corp., 2006 UT 47, ¶ 10, 143 P.3d 283. Information about Wright’s involvement was not material, and the Wardley defendants thus had no duty to disclose it, if Gilbert never imposed the condition that Wright could not be involved in the seller-financed transaction. (AOB at 20.)

Acknowledging this, Gilbert stipulated to a special verdict form with the following dispositive question: “Do you find by a preponderance of evidence that [Gilbert] imposed, under the terms of any agreement, in sufficiently definite terms a condition that [Gilbert] would not seller-finance the sale of [the property] to anyone if Dave Wright . . . were involved in the transaction in any way, shape or form?” (R. 2204:281; 2206:19; 1890; Addendum B.) Because information concerning Wright’s “involvement” had to be a communicated condition of the transaction to support the fraudulent nondisclosure

claim, the jury rejected the fraudulent nondisclosure claim when it answered “no” to this question on the special verdict form.<sup>5</sup> (R. 1890.)

Moreover, the jury considered and rejected a breach of fiduciary duty claim that was duplicative of the fraudulent nondisclosure claim. Both claims involved the same duties and legal elements. To prove fraudulent nondisclosure, Gilbert had to establish by clear and convincing evidence that each defendant (i) had an intent to defraud, (ii) had a legal duty to communicate material information to Gilbert, (iii) had knowledge of that information, and (iv) failed to disclose that information to Gilbert. (AOB at 17.) To prove breach of fiduciary duty, Gilbert had to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that each defendant (i) had a duty to disclose material information to Gilbert and (ii) had knowledge of that information, and (iii) failed to disclose that information to Gilbert. Hermansen v. Tasulis, 2002 UT 52, ¶¶ 18-22, 48 P.3d 235.

Comparing the two causes of action, Gilbert had to prove every element of his fiduciary duty claim to prove part of his fraudulent nondisclosure claim. In the trial court, Gilbert’s counsel recognized the overlap, explaining that the failure to disclose Wright’s involvement “would certainly be a fraudulent omission, and it would certainly be a breach of fiduciary duty.”<sup>6</sup> (R. 2207:47, 111.) The two claims required Gilbert to

---

<sup>5</sup> Whether Gilbert should have stipulated to this question as dispositive of his breach of fiduciary duty claim is another matter. Gilbert has not, and now cannot, challenge the dispositive nature for a tort claim. While a fiduciary duty is distinct from contractual duties, Hermansen v. Tasulis, 2002 UT 52, ¶¶ 11, 17, 48 P.3d 235, Gilbert repeatedly represented that all claims were based upon contractual duties so he could recover all of his attorney fees under the fee provision. (R. 1646-49; 1941; 2204:213, 341; 2207:47.)

On appeal, Gilbert represents that his fraudulent nondisclosure claim “arises from” a contractual duty when he argues that he could be the prevailing party under the fee provision if he prevails only on his fraudulent nondisclosure claim. (AOB at 36-37.)

<sup>6</sup> There is no question that the fiduciary duty claims were directed at all five Wardley defendants. (R. 1891-92.) Whether they should have been is a different matter.

establish the same duty, and that the same material information was known to, but not disclosed by, each Wardley defendant. Gilbert presented this case to the jury with its breach of fiduciary duty claim, and the jury rejected it. (R. 1842, 1871-74, 1890-92.)

For both reasons, the jury's verdict would not have differed had Gilbert presented the same issues in the packaging of "fraudulent nondisclosure." Where a jury's verdict would not have differed had partial directed verdict not been granted, this court affirms. Steffensen v. Smith's Mgmt. Corp., 820 P.2d 482, 490 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

**B. Partial Directed Verdict Was Appropriate Because No Defendant Both Knew that Wright's Involvement Was Material and Knew of Wright's Involvement and No Defendant Acted with an Intent to Deceive**

Even ignoring that the jury effectively rejected the fraudulent nondisclosure claim, the trial court did not err in entering partial directed verdict. Under Utah law, fraud claims at the directed verdict stage still must be evaluated under the "clear and convincing evidence" standard. Berkeley Bank for Coops. v. Meibos, 607 P.2d 798 (Utah 1980). Gilbert failed to provide evidence from which a reasonable juror could find that (i) Wright's involvement in a seller-financed transaction (assuming there was involvement) was material; or (ii) any Wardley defendant knew that Wright was "involved" in the seller-financed transaction or acted with an intent to defraud.

At the outset, it is important to note that the only transaction at issue is the second, seller-financed transaction, not the first, cash deal that never occurred. This is important because Gilbert conceded that he would have sold the property to anyone, including Wright in a cash deal, so Wright's involvement in that deal is irrelevant. (R. 2201:72.) The seller-financed deal was negotiated on December 13, 1999, by Butterfield's counsel, not by Wright. (AOB at 7-8.) Any information concerning Wright's "involvement"

therefore must pertain to events after December 13, 1999, and prior to January 13, 2000, when the transaction closed. (AOB at 10.) The evidence about Wright cited in the opening brief concerns activities before December 13, 1999, and relates to the failed cash deal, not the subsequent seller-financed deal at issue here.

**1. The Only “Involvement” Material to the Transaction Would Have Been Wright’s Being a Buyer or Obligor, and It Is Undisputed That Wright Was Neither**

Gilbert’s fraudulent nondisclosure claim requires that information concerning Wright’s “involvement” in the seller-financed transaction be material. Under Utah law, information is material only if it is “something which a buyer or seller of ordinary intelligence and prudence would think to be of importance in determining whether to buy or sell.” Yazd v. Woodside Homes Corp., 2006 UT 47, ¶¶ 32-33, 143 P.3d 283 (emphasis added) (deleting “some” from the definition of “material”). “Importance,” in turn, is determined by “the degree to which the information could be expected to influence the judgment of a person buying property or assenting to a particular purchase price.” Id. at ¶ 34 (emphasis added). In other words, the test for whether information is material is an objective test asking what a “seller of ordinary intelligence and prudence would think,” not what the actual seller subjectively thought.<sup>7</sup>

Here, determining what level of Wright’s involvement would concern a seller of ordinary intelligence and prudence is especially important because Gilbert testified that he never clarified what he meant by the term “involved,” so how Wright’s “involvement”

---

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